1971

Wasatch Mines Company v. William Hopkinson : Appellant's Brief

STATEMENT OF KIND OF CASE

Plaintiff sued Defendant for pay-
ment for 1600 tons of top soil removed from

Plaintiff's land. Defendant counterclaimed for damages for Plaintiff's breach of a written agreement, including amendments, granting him the right to remove top soil from Plaintiff's land for a period of 25 years and for confirmation of said right.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

This case was tried in the District Court for Salt Lake County before the Honorable Stewart M. Hanson sitting without a jury.

As to the Plaintiff's claim, the Court found the facts in Defendant's favor, viz., the terms of the agreement concerning the payment for the 1600 tons of soil were that Defendant was not required to pay for

it until he sold it; he had paid for that which he had sold, and therefore, there was no money due the Plaintiff for the balance of the 1600 tons which had not been sold. The Court further found that Plaintiff's claim was barred by the statute of limitations.

As to the Defendant's claims, the Court ruled as a matter of law that the terms of the grant of the right to remove soil were so vague and uncertain as to render it unenforceable; and further, that the damages claimed were too speculative to determine. The Court did not specifically rule on Defendant's prayer for declaratory relief confirming his right to remove soil, but in holding the terms were too vague and uncertain for enforcement, it denied this right.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Defendant requests the Supreme

Court of Utah to reverse the decision of the Lower Court as to the counterclaim and hold as a matter of law that the terms of the agreement for the removal of soil are not vague and uncertain and incapable of enforcement, but on the contrary, establish a definite and enforceable right to the soil on the land (known as a profit a prendre); and further, that the damages claimed are not too speculative so as to be incapable of determination.

Also, as respects Plaintiff's cross-appeal, Defendant requests the Court to affirm the Trial Court's Findings and Judgment against the Plaintiff.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The Plaintiff, Wasatch Mines Company, is the owner in fee of certain patented lode mining claims located in the

vicinity of the Wasatch Drain Tunnel in Little Cottonwood Canyon in Salt Lake County (R. 7, 9), about 78 claims of 20 acres each (R. 159). In September, 1954, the Defendant and the Plaintiff and Alta Wasatch Development Company, the owner of the mineral rights to the area, entered into a written lease agreement granting the Defendant a two-year period in which to take the soil from Plaintiff's land around the drain tunnel at \$6.00 per ton for resale as top soil (R. 117, 118). This lease was not introduced at trial because it had been lost (R. 117, 144).

During the period of 1954-56, the term granted in the lease, the Defendant made significant strides in processing and developing the soil for sale as a profitable commodity. He developed a market in Las Vegas, Nevada, and sold a lot of the top soil in

bags of various sizes and prices and gave some away to prove its value (R. 123, 124). Defendant testified (and there was no evidence to the contrary) that the soil was used as an additive and obtained excellent results on trees, bushes, roses, lawns, etc., and that after two years, it had tremendous value (R. 123).

As a result of the success of the first two years, a second document was executed February 9, 1956, entitled "Lease Amendment", which amended the lease of 1954, which was lost (R. 118, 119, 124; Exh. D-3). This amendment increased the boundaries of the first lease by including all of the area (not just around the drain tunnel) of Plaintiff's mining claims (78 claims of 20 acres each, R. 159) that soil was removable without damage to buildings or installations on the property or interference with mine

dumpings. Also, it provided for a 25-year term with option to renew on the same basis. It was non-assignable, but the right to the soil was inheritable in Defendant's sons. Defendant was to pay \$6.00 per ton for soil removed, \$2.00 to go to Alta Wasatch Company and \$4.00 to the Plaintiff. There was also provision for sharing profits in the event minerals were encountered as a result of the soil removal. This document, Exhibit D-3, contains the signatures of the presidents and secretaries and also the seals of the Plaintiff and Alta Wasatch Development Company, the owner of the mineral rights, and was recorded in the Salt Lake County Recorder's office (Exh. D-3).

In September of 1958, Defendant proposed to the Plaintiff at a meeting of the Board of Directors that he remove about 1600 tons of soil and stockpile it in Midvale,

Utah, so that it would be available for future sales when the weather wouldn't permit one to get up to Little Cottonwood Canyon to get the soil. At this point, there was a dispute of facts at the trial. Defendant's claim was that since he was only going to stockpile it for future sales that the parties had agreed that he would pay for it as he sold it from the stockpile (R. 83, 86, 87, 97). Plaintiff's position was that since Defendant had always paid for it as he removed it from Plaintiff's land, the same arrangement applied as respects the 1600 ton stockpile and therefore, Defendant owed for the soil (R. 105). On this disputed issue of fact, the Trial Court found in Defendant's favor, i.e. that the parties had agreed that as respects the soil in the stockpile, Defendant would pay for it as he sold it (R. 68).

Exhibits D-4 and D-7 constitute further amendments to the grant of the right to remove the soil, upon which the counter-claim is based. They are dated February 11, 1959, and March 1, 1959, and were drafted for the purpose of reducing the \$6.00 a ton price by 20 per cent to allow for a moisture content of the soil (R. 124, 125). The proceeds were to be divided \$1.60 to the Plaintiff, \$1.60 to Alta Wasatch Development Company, and \$1.60 to the Defendant (Exh. D-7). Exhibit D-7 was Defendant's copy of the amendment and is signed by the Plaintiff and Alta Wasatch Development Company. The original of Exhibit D-7 was signed by the Defendant also (R. 126).

The above-mentioned documents, viz., the two-year lease agreement of 1954, (the lost document), the 25-year extension of 1956 (Exhibit D-3), and the amendments

of 1959 (Exhs. D-4 and D-7), supported by the course of conduct of the parties under these documents, are the bases of Defendant's counterclaim, claiming the right to the soil upon the land of the Plaintiff. As to the time of Plaintiff's breach of the same, it probably occurred in 1963 or 1964, although there are indications in the record that at least some of the members of the Plaintiff were dissatisfied with their agreement as far back as September, 1956 (See Exhs.D5 and D6). But essentially, Defendant removed soil from Plaintiff's land pursuant to the above documents up until the fall of 1963 (R. 131). The record shows that Plaintiff was trying to stop Defendant from removing soil in September, 1963 (R. 138), and although soil was removed after that in the same year, Plaintiff refused to allow any further removals after August of 1964 (Exh. D-9;

R. 130). Likewise, Defendant has not sold any more soil from the 1600 ton stockpile because of inability to obtain a large buyer for it without access to more (R. 166, 167). At any rate, Plaintiff admitted in its reply to the counterclaim that it had repudiated Defendant's claimed rights as hereinabove set forth (R. 9).

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN RULING AS A MATTER OF LAW THAT THE TERMS OF THE AGREEMENT GRANTING THE DEFENDANT THE RIGHT TO THE SOIL ON PLAINTIFF'S LAND WERE TOO VAGUE AND UNCERTAIN FOR ENFORCEMENT.

As stated in the Statement of Facts above, Defendant bases his right to remove the soil from Plaintiff's land upon the written lease agreement of 1954 (lost document), the written extension of 1956 (Exh.D3) and the written amendments of 1959 (Exhs.D4 and D7).

The Lower Court's ruling against him as a matter of law was because the terms were said to be too "vague and uncertain" for enforcement.

There is no need here for a lengthy discussion of the terms, as the documents speak for themselves. In order to assist in the determination that there is no vagueness or uncertainty involved, these terms for the removal of soil by the Defendant are summarized as follows:

(a) Duration: Two years granted in 1954; an additional 25 years granted in 1956 with option to renew on same basis;

(b) Area of Grant or Quantity: There is no quantity limit. The grant is for all soil in area of claims owned by Plaintiff, 78 claims of 20 acres each in Little Cottonwood Canyon near the Wasatch Drain Tunnel; formerly, under the 1954

agreement, the boundaries were limited to the area directly around the drain tunnel, but the 1956 extension added the total area.¹

(c) Parties: The Plaintiff, owner of the land, and Alta Wasatch Development Company, owner of the mineral rights, Grantors, and the Defendant, Grantee. The 1956 amendment added Defendant's sons and they had the exclusive right to the soil.

(d) Inheritable or Assignable: The right to remove the soil was non-assignable, but it was inheritable.

(e) Price and Division of Profits: Originally it was \$6.00 per ton, split 2/3 and 1/3 between Plaintiff and Alta Wasatch Development Company respectively; then it

¹That grants describing land as "all my property" in a given area and similar descriptions constitute sufficient legal descriptions and that courts construe descriptions liberally to uphold them, see generally 23 Am.Jur.2d, Deeds, sections under topic IX, Descriptions of Property, and cases there cited, particularly sections 222 and 231.

was changed to \$4.80 a ton, split equally three ways between the Plaintiff and the Defendant and Alta Wasatch Development Company. Any mineral deposits encountered were to be claimed by Alta Wasatch Development Company with Plaintiff receiving a 15% royalty.

How the terms could be any more definite, clear or certain is difficult to conceive, and the Court erred in failing to confirm Plaintiff's right to continue to remove soil pursuant to those terms. Admittedly, the documents appear to be home drawn and lack legal finesse, but it is a well-established rule of law that courts do not look kindly on the destruction of agreements of litigants on the ground of vagueness or uncertainty of the terms. In American Jurisprudence 2d, we read:

The determination that an agree-

ment is sufficiently definite is favored. Therefore, the courts will, if possible, so construe the agreement as to carry into effect the reasonable intention of the parties, if that can be ascertained. The law leans against the destruction of contracts for uncertainty, particularly where one of the parties has performed his part of the contract. 17 Am.Jur.2d, Contracts, section 75.

In the present case, not only are the terms clear and definite, as set out above, but the parties operated thereunder for many years prior to Plaintiff's breach.

POINT II.

DEFENDANT'S CLAIMED RIGHT TO REMOVE SOIL IS A PROFIT A' PRENDRE, AND AS SUCH, SHOULD BE DECLARED VALID AND RECOGNIZED IN THE STATE OF UTAH.

A profit a' prendre is the right to remove soil from the land of another,² and in counsel's trial brief and closing arguments to the Lower Court, it was argued that

²See generally 34 Words and Phrases, Profit a' Prendre, pp. 441-450; 25 Am.Jur.2d, Easements, and Licenses, section 4.

the parties had created such an interest. It is felt that the Lower Court's failure to confirm Defendant's right to remove the soil from Plaintiff's land is because there is very little case law in the State of Utah on the law of profit a' prendre, and the Court was therefore unfamiliar with it.³

It is submitted that in the instant case, the Trial Court erred in refusing declaratory relief as to Defendant's counterclaim and failing to hold that the documents and facts discussed above created a profit a' prendre.

In a case based on a prayer for declaratory relief, as here, with practically identical facts to those in the present case, viz., an agreement in writing under seal, granting the exclusive right to remove soil

³Only two Utah cases have been located on the subject; though both recognize the doctrine of profit a' prendre, neither define it adequately, as has been done in other states. Haynes v. Hunt, 96 Utah 348, 85 P.2d 861 (1939); Deseret Livestock v. Sharp, 123 Utah 353, 259 P.2d 607 (1953).

for a definite term, with an option to renew, a definite price dependent on the quantity removed, a prohibition against assignment, and under which the parties operated for a number of years, the Court in holding that the parties had created a profit a' prendre observed in Moore v. Schultz, 22 N.J. Sup. 24, 91 A.2d 514 (1952):

Moreover the agreement was executed under seal, acknowledged and recorded, all of which are the appropriate formalities in the creation of an incorporeal interest. There is often something of implication in the use of language and in the conduct of the contracting parties in the search for their intentions. Quarry rights, mining rights, oil rights, and other similar rights relating to the severance of the physical substances of a servient tenement are normally more commonly interests a' prendre appurtenant or in gross, or easements in gross.

Our study of the agreement, our conception of the exclusive character of the right granted and its distinctive nature, have guided us to the conclusion that the so-called privilege which was invested in Schultz was in the law within the category of a right of profit a' prendre in gross,

sometimes more modernly and liberally designated as an easement in gross. 2 American Law of Property (1952) §8.9, et seq., pp. 235, et seq.; Thompson, Real Property (1939) §§250, 260, 262, and 268; Tiffany, Real Property (1939) §§842, 843; Saratoga State Waters Corp. v. Pratt, 227 N.Y. 429, 125 N.E. 834 (Ct.App. 1920). Cf. Wenger v. Clay Tp. of St. Joseph County, 61 Ind. App. 640, 112 N.E. 402 (Ind. App. Ct. 1916).

Moreover, the label placed on the agreement by the parties⁴ or the fact that words of grant are absent, or where the instrument is prepared by a layman, as here, do not invalidate the profit a' prendre, but the language should be construed as a whole to determine the relationship the parties intended to create. In Minnesota Valley Gun Club v. Northline Corporation, 207 Minn. 126, 290 N.W. 222 (1940), the Court observed:

⁴Note that the exhibits and the record refer to Defendant's right to take the soil variously as "lease", "lease amendment", "agreement", "agency agreement", "soil lease", "contract", etc.

Although customary words of grant are absent, it must be remembered the draftsman was a layman. The confusing use of "landlord", "license", "indenture", "right" and "privilege" leaves little to rely upon as a basis for decision. In addition, it is a persuasive reason why too much reliance cannot be placed upon the language employed. Reading the instrument as a unit, it satisfactorily conveys the conception that a more substantial relationship was intended than defendant concedes. The particular items mentioned, on the whole, lead to the conclusion that a profit a prendre was granted.

A profit a' prendre is simply "the right to take soil . . . and the like from another's land." Munsey v. Mills & Garrity, 155 Tex. 469, 283 S.W. 754 (1926). Note how closely the definition given in 25 Am. Jur.2d, Easements and Licenses, section 4 at pages 419-20, parallels the facts of the present case:

A profit a prendre is a right exercised by one person in the soil of another, accompanied with participation in the profits of the soil, or a right to take a part of the soil or produce of the land. It is therefore distinguishable

from an easement, since one of the features of an easement is the absence of all right to participate in the profits of the soil charged with it. A profit a prendre is similar to an easement, however, in that it is an interest in land. It cannot be created by parol, but is created by grant, and may be either appurtenant to other land or in gross. If enjoyed by reason of holding certain other estate, it is regarded as appurtenant to that estate and may not be severed therefrom. On the other hand, if it belongs to an individual distinct from any ownership of other lands, it takes the character of an estate in the land itself and is assignable or inheritable.

Clearly the Defendant was granted such an interest in land as described above. In this case, it is a profit a' prendre in gross; it is an interest in realty in the nature of a covenant running with the land,⁵ and the Defendant has several years remaining in which to take soil from the land pursuant thereto. Even if the Lower Court's opinion that damages

⁵See Richfield Oil Co. of Cal. v. Hercules Gasoline Co., 112 Cal.App. 431, 297 Pac. 73 (1931).

are speculative were correct, it was error not to grant the declaratory relief prayed for by the Defendant, confirming his right to continue to remove the top soil under the terms, as discussed above.

POINT III.

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN RULING THAT DEFENDANT'S DAMAGES ARE SO SPECULATIVE THAT IT WOULD BE UNABLE TO DETERMINE THEM.

In ruling that the Defendant's damages were so speculative that it could not determine them, the Lower Court misapplied the familiar rule of law which requires that damages, to be awarded, must be certain. Therefore, Defendant seeks a reversal as a matter of law.

In the first place, most cases have modified the harshness of this doctrine by stating that damages need be proved only with reasonable certainty, thereby removing the notion that an exactness is required of

the party seeking a damage recovery. 22 Am. Jur.2d, Damages, section 22; Dee v. San Pedro L.A.& S.L. R. Co., 50 Utah 167, 167 Pac. 246. In the second place, and perhaps even more important, the requirement that damages be proved to a reasonable certainty refers to the fact of damages, not the amount. Thus, whenever the fact of injury is proved with reasonable certainty, uncertainty as to amount of damages will not prevent the trier of fact from awarding damages. Nor is mere difficulty in the assessment of damages a sufficient reason for refusing them. 22 Am. Jur.2d, Damages, sections 22, 23, 25; Dee v. San Pedro L.A.& S.L. R. Co., supra.

In the present case, there is no question as to the fact of damages for Plaintiff's breach. The only facts presented on the question of damages at the trial were

those presented by the Defendant, and there was no attempt by the Plaintiff to rebut it or to introduce any contrary evidence upon which the Court could base a finding of no damage. The import of the Court's order denying damages (R. 68) is not that whether Defendant had any damages is speculative, but rather that such damages as he had are speculative, i.e. the amount. It is Defendant's position that in so ruling the Court failed to apply the rules discussed above as to determining the amount of damages when they may be difficult to assess or incapable of exact determination, and thus, it presents a question of law for this Court to decide. The fact that Defendant's damages may have some uncertainty as to the amount (on the question of lost profits) or that they may be difficult to assess, is no ground for denying them.

The damages sustained by the Defendant, which are the natural consequences of Plaintiff's breach, are twofold: (1) damages for loss of profits from 1964 to date for Plaintiff's refusal to allow Defendant to continue to remove soil, and (2) damages for time and money expended in reliance upon the agreement and in preparation for performance.

1. Loss of Profits. While it is true that there can be no recovery for loss of profits where it is uncertain whether any profit at all would have been made, as discussed above, certainty as to amount is not required. In 22 Am.Jur.2d, Damages, section 172, we read:

But it must be borne in mind that prospective profits are to some extent uncertain and problematical, and so, on that account or on account of the difficulties in the way of proof, a person complaining of breach of contract is not deprived of all remedy; uncer-

tainty merely as to the amount of profits that would have been made does not prevent a recovery.

In the present case we have a ten year history (from the time of the 1954 lease agreement when Defendant began marketing the soil to Plaintiff's repudiation and refusal to allow further removals of soil after 1963) in which to look for data upon which to compute loss of profits. The evidence is uncontradicted that Defendant was to receive \$1.60 net profit for every ton of soil removed and sold (Exh.D7; R. 98, 99). In addition, Defendant was president and stockholder of Mineral Rich Soil, Inc., one of the purchasers of the soil (R. 99), and was therefore a beneficiary of profit made by the corporation. As to the \$1.60 per ton, the computation of prospective profits is done simply by multiplying \$1.60 by the number

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