1971

## **Wasatch Mines Company v. William Hopkinson : Respondent's Brief**

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

According to the evidence presented at trial, Defendant's asserted rights stem from a confused chain of oral and written "agreements" which resulted from various negotiations. The evidence indicates that these "agreements" were formally terminated by mutual consent in 1963. Thereafter, Defendant made proposals to the Plaintiff concerning a new agreement, but no new agreement was ever agreed upon or entered into.

What was the nature of the pre-1963 "agreement"? Defendant relies upon only three separate documents to establish his "rights": (1) a "Lease Amendment" dated February 9, 1956 which purports to amend a prior lease dated February 11, 1959, which is a practical impossibility; (2) an "Amendment to *Agency Agreement*" dated February 11, 1959, of which Plaintiff is not a party, and which is not a lease upon real property; and (3) an "Amendment to Lease" dated March 1, 1959, which deals with the division of proceeds from soil sales. None of these documents, taken separately or in combination, contain or can be construed to contain the basic elements required to vest rights in real property. It would appear that prior to 1963, Defendant had a vague understanding or agreement by which he removed soil from Plaintiff's real property. At best, the "agreement" was merely Plaintiff's consent for Defendant to take the soil, a schedule of payments for soil removed, and a division of the proceeds among the

Plaintiff, Plaintiff's mining lessee and the Defendant. It was never intended to establish a right to the real property owned by the Plaintiff and did not do so.

After the termination of the "agreements" in 1963, small quantities of soil were removed by the Defendant, but on a strictly cash sale basis, the same basis on which Plaintiff would sell soil to any other party.

## POINT II

ANY LEASE, AGREEMENT, CONTRACT, PROFIT A' PRENDRE, ETC., THE DEFENDANT MAY HAVE HAD WITH THE PLAINTIFF IS NO LONGER IN EFFECT BY VIRTUE OF ITS TERMINATION IN 1963.

On April 16, 1963 at a board of directors' meeting of the Alta Wasatch Development Company, the agreement between Plaintiff, Alta Wasatch Development Company and the Defendant was declared at an end and terminated. The minutes of this meeting, (Exhibit E, Defendant's Deposition), indicate that said termination was due to Defendant's failure to pay for soil which he had removed. The minutes further indicate that Defendant was present and expressed no opposition, implying that he himself voted to terminate the agreement. This evidence was substantiated by the testimony of Lee Cook, a director of Alta Wasatch Development Company, who was in attendance at the meeting, (Cook's Deposition, pages 19, 20), and also by the testimony of Clair M. Aldrich, Esq., a Director and legal advisor for the Plaintiff, who was present, but not participating in the meeting. Mr. Aldrich testified as follows:

. . . Alta Wasatch directors voted to throw in the sponge, wipe the slate clean, and Mr. Hopkinson was present and he voted for it. I remember that distinctly. (R-146. See also R-148, 151).

Later that same evening a meeting of the directors of Plaintiff company was held. The minute entry of this meeting, (Exhibit H, Defendant's Deposition), indicates that the purpose of the meeting was to

. . . consider a proposition to be submitted by William Hopkinson, concerning his desire to obtain a contract to remove soils and earths from the Wasatch Mines Company property in the vicinity of the Wasatch Drain Tunnel.

This evidence was also substantiated by Mr. Aldrich's testimony. (R-146).

Defendant admits on page 58 of his Deposition that on the morning of April 17, 1963, the day following the meetings, he was informed by Mr. C. W. Love, President of Alta Wasatch Development Company and Secretary of Plaintiff company, that he no longer had a "lease."

At the September 23, 1963 board of directors' meeting (Exhibit I, Defendant's Deposition) Defendant appeared with his counsel and made proposals concerning the delinquent payments and a new agreement to remove soil. He promised to furnish a map of the area where he proposed to remove soil and to obtain a clearance from the Health Department and Forest Service. The minutes of the meeting expressly state that no action was taken on the proposals at that meeting. The matter of a new agreement apparently died when the Defendant failed to comply with his promises.

On August 31, 1964 Plaintiff's corporate secretary, Mr. C. W. Love, wrote Defendant informing him that he was to remove no soil until the amount previously removed had been paid for, and until the proposals previously made had been completed. Defendant subsequently removed no soil and the matter rested until this action was brought.

The evidence clearly shows that any agreement which may have been in existence between the parties was terminated in 1963, and further, that the Defendant was fully aware of its termination, and in fact complied with the termination.

### POINT III

**DEFENDANT'S FAILURE TO PRESENT EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT HIS CLAIM FOR DAMAGES JUSTIFIES THE TRIAL COURT'S RULING THAT DAMAGES WERE TOO SPECULATIVE TO WARRANT AN AWARD.**

It is elementary hornbook law that damages may not be awarded where not supported by proper evidence. Contrary to Appellant's argument, damages must be established with some degree of exactness and certainty. "Damages must be proved with all the certainty the case permits and cannot be left to conjecture, guess, or speculation." 25A Corpus Juris Secundum, Damages, Section 162 (2), page 79.

The Utah Supreme Court held in the case of *Bunnell vs. Bills*, 13 Utah 2d 83, 90, 368 P. 2d 597, (1962) that in order to recover damages, the complaining party must

prove not only that a loss has been suffered, but also must prove the extent and amount of that loss. Justice Callister said, "Damages cannot be found from mere speculative and conjectural evidence." (See also *Bingham Coal and Lumber Co., et al., vs. Board of Education of Jordan School District of Salt Lake County*, 61 Utah 149, 211 Pac. 981, (1922); 15 Am. Jur., Damages, Section 356, pages 795-797).

Defendant's claim for damages is based upon the purported loss of profits he suffered as a result of Plaintiff's repudiation of the agreement. Defendant's mere showing of sales made during the preceding ten years would not be sufficient to meet his burden. In *Gould vs. Mountain States Telephone and Telegraph Company*, 6 Utah 2d 187, 309 P. 2d 802, 806, (1957) the Utah Supreme Court affirmed the Trial Court's action of setting aside a verdict for prospective profits because the complaining party had failed to show a single instance of loss of prospective business caused by Defendant's breach. In this case, Defendant Hopkinson has also failed to produce evidence of a single customer lost as a direct result of Plaintiff's action.

Appellant states that he did not attempt to make additional soil sales after 1964 because if he got a "big buyer" he would not be able to meet the demand for soil. (R-167). Prior to this time Defendant's cumulative sales of soil totalled only 560 tons to many individual purchasers during the period of 1958-1964. Since 1959 Defendant has has approximately 1,300 tons of soil in his stockpile. Defendant has never been instructed or admonished not to sell this soil. It would appear from the evidence that Defendant's loss of profits, if there are any, resulted from his

own lack of diligence rather than any alleged breach by Plaintiff.

Appellant claims further damages for expenses incurred by him in reliance upon performance of the agreement. However, Appellant failed to present any evidence indicating what these expenses were, and how they were in reliance upon an agreement.

Defendant's admission that his prayer for damages was a mere "guesstimate" (Defendant's Deposition, page 67), coupled with his failure to produce any evidence at the trial, is substantial basis for the Trial Court's ruling that the damages were too speculative to justify an award.

### RESPONDENT'S CONCLUSION

The lower court, as trier of the facts, after hearing the testimony of the witnesses and analyzing the evidence presented, was unable to define the terms and conditions of any agreement between the parties. After having heard the evidence regarding its termination, the Trial Court refused to find a binding, enforceable agreement between the parties, and consequently dismissed Defendant's claim.

Defendant's claim for damages failed because of a lack of evidence to substantiate the claim.

The record contains substantial evidence to support the decisions of the Trial Court regarding the denial of Defendant's Counterclaim, and as such, it should not be disturbed on appeal.

ARGUMENT OF CROSS-APPELLANT  
POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN RULING THAT DEFENDANT WAS NOT REQUIRED TO PAY FOR THE SOIL REMOVED UNTIL IT HAD ACTUALLY BEEN SOLD BY THE DEFENDANT.

Defendant has admitted (1) that he removed 1,600 tons of top soil from Plaintiff's property; (2) that he agreed to pay for said top soil at the rate of \$4.80 per ton; and (3) that he has never paid for said top soil despite demands made upon him by the Plaintiff. (R-6)

Defendant argues that in September of 1958 the directors of Plaintiff company authorized him to defer payment for the soil removed to the stockpile until such time as it was actually sold by the Defendant. Plaintiff contends that no such agreement was ever made on behalf of Plaintiff, and that, in any event, no one ever contemplated that the soil would not be sold within a reasonable period of time.

Mr. L. L. Cook, a director of Plaintiff company, who was present at the meeting where such permission was allegedly given, testified that it was agreed that Defendant would pay for the soil as he removed it from the mountain, as he had always done in the past. (R-105, 109, 114, Cook's Deposition page 34).

In April of 1963 the Defendant, together with two directors of Plaintiff company, who were also present at the 1958 meeting, met and terminated the agreement between the parties because Defendant . . .

. . . was in default by reason of the fact that said W. H. Hopkinson had removed some 1,600 tons and had stored the same at the home of his sister in Salt Lake and had never paid for the earth removed. (Exhibit E, Defendant's Deposition).

In September of 1963 the defendant and his attorney met with Plaintiff's board of directors and proposed that Defendant pay for the soil for which a demand had been made. The following August the Plaintiff's corporate secretary made a further and final demand upon Defendant for payment for the soil which he had removed and not paid for.

Every witness at the trial, including the Defendant, testified that it was contemplated that all of the soil in the stockpile would be sold during the Winter of 1958, or at least within a reasonable time thereafter. (R-84, 95, 104, Defendant's Deposition pages 16, 17, 52). No one dreamed that 11 years later Defendant would still have the soil in his stockpile, would still refuse to pay for it, and would even refuse to make any efforts to sell the soil.

The facts do not reflect, as held by the Trial Court, that it was the practice over the years for Defendant to pay for the soil as it was sold. In 1952, and again in 1955 when Defendant removed soil for experimentation, Defendant immediately paid for the soil as it was removed. (Defendant's Deposition pages 35, 36). Again in 1963 the Defendant removed approximately 260 tons of soil and immediately paid for it. (Defendant's Deposition pages 36, 42). The only soil which has been removed by the Defendant and not immediately paid for, is the soil which is the subject matter of this lawsuit. The evidence would

seem to indicate, contrary to the holding of the Trial Court, that it was the practice over the years for Defendant to pay for the soil as it was removed, not as it was sold.

Assuming, *arguendo*, that Defendant was given permission to defer payment until this particular amount of soil was sold, what court would deny Plaintiff the right to force Defendant, after total lapse of 11 years and inaction by Defendant, to remit full payment for the soil? Defendant has had total custody of the soil and his inaction has worked a hardship upon Plaintiff. What may well have been a reasonable arrangement at the time it was purportedly made, has by Defendant's inaction and unreasonable delays become an unconscionable agreement. This Court can remedy the inequity only by requiring Defendant to pay for the soil he has had for 11 years.

Cross-Appellant prays that this court declare that the "reasonable time" to complete the sale, as contemplated by the parties to such alleged agreement, expired in 1964, when Plaintiff made the final and formal demand upon Defendant, and that the agreed upon price became due and payable notwithstanding Defendant's neglect to actually sell the soil.

## POINT II

**THE TRIAL COURT ERRONEOUSLY HELD THAT ANY CLAIM PLAINTIFF MIGHT HAVE WOULD BE BARRED BY THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS.**

Appellant argues, and the Trial Court has held, that

Defendant is not obligated to pay for the top soil until such time as it is actually sold. In addition the Trial Court held that Plaintiff's claim is barred by the statute of limitations.

Rule 9 (h) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure provides in part as follows:

In pleading the statute of limitations it is not necessary to state the facts showing the defense but it may be alleged generally that the cause of action is barred by the provisions of the statute relied on, referring to or describing by section number, subsection designation, if any, or otherwise designating the provision relied upon sufficiently clearly to identify it.

In *Tanner vs. Provo Reservoir Co. et al.*, 78 Utah 158, 2 P 2d 107, 111, (1931) the Utah Supreme Court held that "the defense of the statute of limitations is not available unless pleaded." In the case of *Spanish Fork City vs. Hopper*, 7 Utah 235, 26 Pac. 293, 294, (1891), wherein Defendant's Answer merely stated that the action was barred by the statute of limitations, the Utah Supreme Court held that no issue as to the statute of limitations was raised because Defendant failed to plead the section of the code relied upon.

Both Defendant's Answer (R-7) and his untimely Amendment to the Answer (R-23) fail to properly plead the statute of limitations due to his failure to specify which of the many statutes of limitations he is relying on. The trial court erred in ruling on Defendant's improperly plead affirmative defense based on some unspecified statute of

limitations, and Appellant cannot now raise or rely upon the statute of limitations.

Furthermore, it is Defendant's burden, due to his affirmative defense, to produce facts at the trial which would support the allegation that Plaintiff's claim is barred. (See *Kimball vs. McCornick*, 70 Utah 198, 259 Pac. 313, 317, (1927).). Defendant Hopkinson failed to produce any evidence in response to this burden. In fact, no mention of the statute of limitations was made by the Defendant subsequent to the "faulty" pleading.

Assuming Defendant had properly plead the statute of limitations, what particular statute is he relying on? Appellant's whole argument is that his rights are founded upon a series of written documents, which he asserts are still in effect. Appellant further contends that all of the soil was taken under the same general arrangement. The applicable statute of limitations over the type of transaction claimed by the Defendant is Section 78-12-23 (2), Utah Code Annotated, 1953, which specifies a 6 year period. The evidence presented supports Plaintiff's contention that the agreement terminated in 1963. This action was commenced well within the 6 year period following termination of the written agreement.

### CROSS-APPELLANT'S CONCLUSION

This action was commenced as a simple action to collect the value of soil removed from Plaintiff's land by the Defendant, acting pursuant to an earlier permission to remove soil. The quantity of soil involved, 1,300 tons, and the value of the soil, \$4.80 per ton, is not in dispute. Defendant alleges some form of agreement from Plaintiff

giving him a long term property right in the property from which the soil was removed. Defendant further claims astronomical damages by reason of Plaintiff's denial of his alleged property right. Tacked on to this absurd and completely unsupported set of charges is a claim by Defendant that, on the basis of some oral promise made in 1958, he is not *yet* obligated to pay for the soil.

The Trial Court patiently heard every shred of evidence bearing on this matter and ruled that the terms of the agreement were so speculaive as to be unenforceable and that Defendant's claim for damages could not be supported by the evidence. The Trial Court further held, contrary to the evidence, that Defendant is not obligated to pay for the soil until it had been sold by the Defendant, that he is *not yet obligated*, and further, that when it becomes due, Plaintiff's claim would be barred by the statute of limitations. This latter part of the court's ruling is inconsistent with both law and reason, and will not stand up on review.

Respectfully submitted,

NESLEN AND MOCK

Richard R. Neslen

Robert G. Pruitt, Jr.

Attorneys for Plaintiff

Respondent and

Cross-Appellant

1000 Continental Bank Bldg.

Salt Lake City, Utah